FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
6/23/2023 12:44 PM

FILE SUPREME STATE OF WA 6/23/2 BY ERIN L. CLEF

SUPREME COURT NO. 102132-1

NO. 55199-3-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLARA ROOD,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAMANIA COUNTY

The Honorable Randall Krog, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, Washington 98121 206-623-2373

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under Miranda,¹ to protect the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, when a suspect requests an attorney, interrogation must cease until an attorney is present. Rood was arrested, questioned, and invoked her right to counsel. On the way back to her cell, the detective told her that her co-defendant was pinning everything on her. Eighty minutes later, she asked to speak to the detective, waived her rights, and confessed. Was the admission of her statements constitutional error that requires reversal of her convictions?

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Clara Rood and her boyfriend Jasper Phillips were arrested for a breaking into her stepfather's home to rob and assault him.² RP 526-27. After an initial period of questioning, Rood unequivocally asked for a lawyer. RP 18-19, 33-34. At that point, the detective ended the interview and returned her to her cell. RP 33-34.

Rood testified that, on the way back to the cell, the detective told her that Phillips was pinning the whole thing on her. RP 32. This was a ruse. RP 555, 664-65, 705. In reality, Phillips told police Rood had participated in the crimes only because he held her hostage. RP 555, 664-65, 705. In his testimony, the detective did not deny this. He agreed it "might be possible" he had said something of the sort. RP 29.

² Ultimately, the prosecution charged Rood with attempted first-degree murder, first-degree assault, first-degree robbery, first-degree burglary, identity theft, and two counts of theft of a motor vehicle. CP 62-69.

Eighty minutes³ later, Rood asked to speak to police, was re-advised of her Miranda rights, signed a written waiver, and confessed. RP 33-34, 574. She testified she knew she did not have to speak to police. RP 36. The trial court determined her statements were voluntary and admissible at trial and denied Rood's motion to suppress. CP 253-55. Regarding the detective's statement on the way back to the cell, the trial court entered a finding of fact that the detective "may have" told Rood that Phillips was blaming everything on her. CP 254.

Rood appealed, arguing the detective's statement on the way back to the cell was interrogation and rendered her statements involuntary and inadmissible. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that, under the totality of the circumstances, Rood's waiver of rights and statements to police were not involuntary or coerced. The Court of Appeals also denied

³ It is undisputed that the court erred in finding that this occurred "hours later" (CP 254). <u>See</u> Brief of Respondent at 15. The detective testified the time lapse was one hour and 20 minutes. RP 574.

Rood's motion to reconsider. Rood now seeks this Court's review.

D. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

Rood's statement was inadmissible because the detective failed to honor her request for counsel, instead engaging in interrogation tactics as they returned to her cell.

Rood asks this Court to grant review and reverse because her statement was admitted in violation of her constitutional rights. This Court's review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b) (2) because the Court of Appeals conclusion to the contrary is in conflict with Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675, 686, 108 S. Ct. 2093, 100 L. Ed. 2d 704 (1988); Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-485, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981), and State v. Elkins, 188 Wn. App. 386, 353 P.3d 648 (2015). Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because this case presents several significant constitutional questions, including:

• Whether the detective interrogated Rood when he informed her that her co-defendant was pinning everything on her?

- Whether the trial court's finding of fact that the detective "may have" made the statement was sufficient to raise the issue?
- Whether the detective failed to scrupulously honor Rood's invocation of the right to counsel?
- Whether that failure fatally undermines the subsequent "voluntary" waiver of her Fifth Amendment rights?

The answer to each of these questions is "Yes."

"Once a defendant has asserted his right to counsel, a waiver of the right to counsel is valid only if the police scrupulously honored that request, the defendant initiated further relevant conversation, and the defendant's waiver was knowing and voluntary." Elkins, 188 Wn. App. at 406 (citing State v. Earls, 116 Wn.2d 364, 382-383, 805 P.2d 211 (1991)). Put another way, "Further questioning of a suspect is allowed provided the following conditions exist: (1) the right to cut off questioning was scrupulously honored; (2) the police engaged in no further words or actions amounting to interrogation before

obtaining a waiver or assuring the presence of an attorney; (3) the police engaged in no tactics which tend to coerce the suspect; and (4) the subsequent waiver was knowing and voluntary. State v. Mason, 31 Wn. App. 41, 44–45, 639 P.2d 800, 802–03 (1982) (citing State v. Pierce, 94 Wn.2d 345, 618 P.2d 62 (1980)).

Here, the state has not disputed that Rood asserted her right to counsel. Therefore, the quote above outlines the prerequisites to a valid waiver of the right to counsel. These prerequisites were not met. The detective did not scrupulously honor her request for counsel and instead engaged in interrogation and coercive tactics that rendered her subsequent waiver involuntary.

a. The detective's statement was interrogation.

It is undisputed in this case that Rood unequivocally invoked her right to counsel. <u>See</u> Brief of Respondent at 15. This fact required that police cease all interrogation until an attorney for her was present. <u>Miranda</u>, 384 U.S. at 474. In short, police

were required to "scrupulously honor" that request. Elkins, 188 Wn. App. at 406 (citing Earls, 116 Wn.2d at 382-383).

Instead of scrupulously honoring her request, the detective engaged in classic interrogation tactics. RP 29, 33-34. For purposes of Miranda, interrogation occurs when the investigating officer should have known his or her words or actions were reasonably likely to provoke an incriminating response. Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 303, 100 S. Ct. 1682, 1691, 64 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1980); Elkins, 188 Wn. App. at 406-07. Telling a suspect that an alleged partner in crime is pinning the blame on her is a tactic designed to elicit a confession. See, e.g., Nelson v. Fulcomer, 911 F.2d 928, 934 (3d Cir. 1990).

In <u>Nelson</u>, the Third Circuit explained, "Confronting a suspect with his alleged partner and informing him that his alleged partner has confessed is very likely to spark an incriminating response." <u>Id.</u> Therefore, the court concluded, "[T]his case falls squarely under <u>Innis</u>'s prohibition of ploys reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response." Id. By

informing Rood that Phillips was pinning the blame on her, the detective engaged in an interrogation tactic designed to elicit incriminating statements.

b. The testimony at the CrR 3.5 hearing sufficiently establishes the detective, in fact, made this statement.

At the CrR 3.5 hearing, the burden is on the state to demonstrate that the accused's statements were not the result of police coercion. See, e.g., Miranda, 384 U.S. at 475; State v. Nogueira, 32 Wn. App. 954, 956, 650 P.2d 1145 (1982). When interrogation continues after the accused requests an attorney, "a heavy burden rests on the government to demonstrate that the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to retained or appointed counsel." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 475.

Here, Rood's uncontradicted testimony establishes that the detective made the statement that Phillips was pinning everything on Rood. RP 29, 32. The trial court did not find otherwise. CP 254. the absence of a critical finding is construed as a finding

against the party with the burden of proof. State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) ("In the absence of a finding on a factual issue we must indulge the presumption that the party with the burden of proof failed sustain their burden on this issue."). For purposes of appeal, the court should assume the truth of Rood's uncontradicted testimony on this matter.

c. The detective's parting shot interrogation raises an unrebutted presumption of coercion.

After a request for counsel: "it is presumed that any subsequent waiver that has come at the authorities' behest, and not at the suspect's own instigation, is itself the product of 'inherently compelling pressures' and not the purely voluntary choice of the suspect." Roberson, 486 U.S. at 681. To avoid this presumption, police must scrupulously honor the request for counsel. That scrupulous honoring has three components: 1) immediately cutting off questioning, 2) the passage of a significant period of time, and 3) provision of a fresh set of Miranda warnings. Roberson, 486 U.S. at 683. The purpose of

this rule is to prevent a suspect from being "badgered" into waiving her right to counsel by the mounting coercive pressures of prolonged police custody. Id. at 686.

Here, the detective failed to immediately cut off questioning. Instead, he chose to fire off a "parting shot" of additional interrogation. RP 29, 33-34. In this context, the 80 minutes that passed were insufficient to rebut the presumption of coercion. Of the three requirements under <u>Roberson</u>, only the last, a fresh set of <u>Miranda</u> warnings, occurred. The presumption of coercion brought about by the pressures of custodial interrogation remains.

Instead of applying the presumption of Miranda, and Edwards, and Roberson, the Court of Appeals focused on the totality of the circumstances. Slip op. at 18 (citing State v. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 95, 101-02, 196 P.3d 645 (2008)). But in Unga, the police had strictly complied with Miranda and Edwards. Unga, 165 U.S. at 98. In Unga there was no suggestion police had failed to respect a suspect's invocation of the right to counsel. Id.

Here, the totality of the circumstances includes the presumption of coercion that arose when the detective chose to engage in badgering tactics rather than scrupulously honor Rood's unequivocal request for counsel. The Court of Appeals improperly dismissed this concern on the basis that Rood did not respond immediately to the detective's tactic. Slip op. at 20. An immediate response is not the test for whether impermissible interrogation has occurred or whether the invocation of the right to counsel has been scrupulously honored.

For example, in <u>Brewer v. Williams</u>, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S. Ct. 1232, 51 L. Ed. 2d 424 (1977), the police engaged in interrogation in violation of <u>Miranda</u> while driving Williams approximately 160 miles. <u>Id.</u> at 390-93. The unconstitutional custodial interrogation by the officer occurred at the beginning of the journey. <u>Id.</u> at 392 ("not long after leaving Davenport and reaching the interstate highway). Approximately 100 miles later, Williams began making incriminating statements. <u>Id.</u> at 393 ("as

the car approached Grinnell, a town approximately 100 miles west of Davenport).

Despite this delay, consisting of the amount of time it took to drive nearly 100 miles, the Eighth Circuit held Williams's statements were involuntary due to the Miranda violation. Id. at 395, 397. The Supreme Court also deemed the statements inadmissible due to a violation of Williams' Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Id. at 397-98. Neither court was concerned with the interval between the interrogation and the response. A valid waiver of the right to counsel would have required that police "refrained from coercion and interrogation." Id. at 413 (Powell, J., concurring). Because they did not, no valid waiver occurred. Id. at 397-98.

The real question in this case is whether "the accused was not involuntarily impelled to make a statement when but for the improper influences he would have remained silent" Miranda, 384 U.S. at 462 (quoting Bram v. United States, 168 U.S. 532, 549, 18 S. Ct. 183, 187, 42 L. Ed. 568 (1897)). The record shows

Rood initially invoked her right to counsel rather than submit to interrogation. RP 33-34. This shows she did not feel competent to deal with the police on her own without professional assistance. Roberson, 486 U.S. at 681. The next occurrence was one of the "improper influences" decried in Miranda. RP 29, 33-34. Instead of respecting her invocation of her constitutional rights, the detective engaged in interrogation tactics. RP 29, 33-34. Eighty minutes later, she waived her rights and made incriminating statements. RP 574. This record shows her statements were coerced because "but for the improper influences [s]he would have remained silent."

This Court should grant review and reverse because the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with the cases discussed above and raises a significant constitutional issue regarding the effect of the presumption of coercion that arises when custodial interrogation occurs in violation of Miranda, Edwards, and Roberson.

"[N]either admissions nor waivers are effective unless there are both particular and systemic assurances that the coercive pressures of custody were not the inducing cause." Minnick v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. 146, 155-56, 111 S. Ct. 486, 492, 112 L. Ed. 2d 489 (1990) (citing Roberson, 486 U.S. 675). Rood's waiver of her Miranda rights was the result of the coercive pressures inherent in custodial interrogation, to which she was subjected after clearly invoking her right to counsel. Moreover, her subsequent Miranda waiver and confession was the fruit of the poisonous tree, induced by the detective's decision to continue interrogation after her invocation of the right to counsel. Her statements were inadmissible, and, therefore, her convictions must be reversed.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, Rood respectfully requests this Court grant review and reverse.

DATED this 23rd day of June, 2023.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software and contains 2,296 words excluding the parts exempted by RAP 18.17.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

JÉNNIFER J. SWEIGERT

WSBA No. 38068

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Appellant

APPENDIX

May 25, 2023

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

No. 55199-3-II

Respondent,

v.

CLARA MARJORIE ROOD,

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

Appellant.

Appellant, Clara M. Rood, filed a motion for reconsideration of this court's unpublished opinion filed on December 13, 2022. After consideration, it is hereby

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration is denied.

FOR THE COURT: Jj. Lee, Veljacic, Price

J.E.J., JUDGE

December 13, 2022

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

No. 55199-3-II

Respondent,

v.

CLARA MARJORIE ROOD,

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Appellant.

LEE, J. — Clara M. Rood appeals her convictions for attempted first degree murder, first degree assault, first degree robbery, first degree kidnapping, first degree burglary, second degree identity theft, and two counts of theft of a motor vehicle. Rood argues that (1) the trial court abused its discretion in denying Rood's motion to suppress her statements confessing to the crimes, (2) the State presented insufficient evidence to convict Rood of attempted first degree murder, (3) the trial court violated Rood's right to effective counsel when it denied her motion for a continuance, (4) the prosecuting attorney committed misconduct, (5) the cumulative effect of repeated errors requires reversal of her convictions, (6) the trial court exceeded its statutory authority under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) when it scored both of Rood's serious violent offenses as a six, and (7) defense counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing when counsel failed to argue that Rood's two convictions for theft of a motor vehicle should count as the same criminal conduct.

No. 55199-3-II

We affirm Rood's convictions, but we reverse Rood's sentence and remand to the trial court for resentencing because the trial court exceeded its statutory authority under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) in its scoring of Rood's two serious violent offenses.¹

FACTS

A. BACKGROUND

Beginning in November 2017, Rood lived with her stepfather, Robert Pullman, and her mother at Pullman's home. When Rood's mother passed away in 2018, Pullman moved into the basement of the home. The basement consisted of a bedroom, living area, pantry, and bathroom. Although Pullman ate his meals in the kitchen upstairs, he spent most of the time in the basement. Rood and her boyfriend, Jasper Phillips, shared a bedroom upstairs in Pullman's house. Pullman saw Rood and Phillips about once a day, and occasionally, the three ate meals together.

In March 2019, Rood and Phillips moved out of Pullman's home. Pullman was happy to see them go. He also feared that they might return, so he changed the locks in his home and installed a security system. Pullman always kept the doors to the upstairs of the home locked because he could not hear who came and went, but he usually did not lock the basement door where his bedroom was located.

B. ATTACK OF PULLMAN AT HIS HOME

On August 14, Pullman, who was 72 years old at the time, went to bed and slept heavily. At approximately 3:00 a.m. on the morning of August 15, Pullman woke to blows landing on his head and other parts of his body. Pullman felt his scalp get cut as he got out of bed. Voices

¹ Because we remand for resentencing, we do not address the issue of whether the two convictions for theft of a motor vehicle should have been counted as the same criminal conduct.

shouted at him and demanded money. Pullman recognized the voices as those of Rood and Phillips. Pullman could not positively identify who was striking him; however, Pullman believed that Phillips and Rood took turns hitting him.

Eventually, the blows ceased, and Rood and Phillips duct-taped Pullman to his computer desk chair. Pullman heard Rood and Phillips running throughout the house. Rood and Phillips then wheeled Pullman into the bathroom and tied the door shut. Rood and Phillips checked on Pullman occasionally and added more tape. They also demanded that Pullman provide the personal identification number (PIN) to his debit card, telling him that they had his card. They told Pullman that if the PIN worked, they would call an ambulance, but if it did not, they would be back.

To Pullman, Rood appeared to be under the influence of a substance, but she did not appear afraid, and she had the presence of mind to change Pullman's email password. Rood also appeared to be in charge during the events that transpired at Pullman's home.

While locked in the bathroom, Pullman thought a vehicle may have pulled into his driveway and he yelled for help. Phillips came to the bathroom, pushed the chair over, stepped on Pullman's face, and told him to shut up. Pullman could hear that Rood and Phillips were in the home until 5:30 a.m.

Pullman routinely left the truck keys inside his trucks, and eventually, he heard Rood and Phillips starting the trucks in the garage. Rood and Phillips took the trucks and left. Once Rood and Phillips were gone, Pullman freed himself from the duct tape. He attempted to use his home telephone to call for help, but the wires were cut. Pullman dressed himself and walked to a neighbor's house for help. Pullman's neighbor called an ambulance.

Pullman was transported to the hospital for treatment. He sustained injuries to his hands, head, arms, and leg. He also suffered a subdural hematoma, which resulted from bleeding around the brain that caused direct pressure on the brain. The cuts caused by being repeatedly hit on the head resulted in Pullman having 30 staples on the top of his head.

Later that morning, Deputy Jeremy Koch of the Clark County Sheriff's Office saw Phillips driving Pullman's Ford Ranger pickup, and a chase ensued that ended in a crash. Law enforcement apprehended Phillips and Rood.

Pullman later discovered that Rood and Phillips had taken several folders from his filing cabinet that included important documents such as his passport and bank statements. Rood and Phillips also took Pullman's wallet, which contained his debit card and credit cards. The recorder that was attached to Pullman's security camera had its wires cut and was taken.

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