FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/31/2023 4:04 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 102132-1

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 55199-3-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLARA ROOD,

Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAMANIA COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RANDALL C. KROG, JUDGE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM NATHANIEL KICK Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney

DEREK ANTHONY SCHEURER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 790 240 N.W. Vancouver Ave. Stevenson, Washington 98648 (509) 427-3790

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

III. ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DOES NOT QUALIFY FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT.

The sole grounds under which the Supreme Court may accept discretionary review of a court of appeals decision on a decision by a court of limited jurisdiction are:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Rood alleges that the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review qualifies for discretionary review by this Court under only subsections (2) and (3) above. As this answer demonstrates below, Rood's petition fails to show how either of those grounds might apply to the Court of Appeals' ruling in this case.

The fundamental question in this case is whether Detective Schultz's alleged comment to Rood rendered involuntary her reinitiation of contact with Detective Schultz 80 minutes later and her following confession.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the detective's remark was not interrogation, and that Rood rationally decided to speak to law enforcement and confess. In addition, because the Court correctly found no coercive interrogation, Rood's request for counsel was scrupulously honored, and the Court had no cause to apply a presumption of involuntariness to Rood's later confession. Last, the Court of Appeals properly considered the trial court's unchallenged finding that Detective Schultz "may have" made the remark as a verity upon appeal. This Court should deny discretionary review.

A. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined Detective Schultz's Comment Was Not Interrogation And Did Not Coerce Rood's Confession.

The Court of Appeals properly decided that Detective Schultz's comment to Rood did not constitute interrogation and did not overcome her ability to make a

rational decision to waive her right to counsel and confess. The Court of Appeals noted that, under *Edwards v. Arizona*, interrogation may occur after a suspect invokes the right to counsel when the suspect "himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." 451 U.S. 477, 485, 101 S. Ct. 1880 (1981). Op. at 20. In the present case, it is undisputed that, 80 minutes after being placed in a holding cell, Rood gained the attention of jail personnel to speak again with Detective Schultz. RP 20-22, 574.

Next, the Court of Appeals analyzed whether Rood's eventual confession was the product of police coercion. The Court looked to the totality of the circumstances of Detective Schultz's comment, which allegedly occurred when Rood entered the holding cell, to determine whether it overcame Rood's ability to rationally decide to remain silent. Op. at 20 (citing *State v. Unga*, 165 Wn.2d 95, 101-02, 196 P.3d 645 (2008)). *Unga*'s

examination of the totality of the circumstances is the correct test for determining when an officer's statement or conduct coerces a suspect's incriminating response.

[T]he determination whether statements obtained during custodial interrogation are admissible against the accused is to be made upon an inquiry into the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation, to ascertain whether the accused in fact knowingly and voluntarily decided to forgo his rights to remain silent and to have the assistance of counsel.

Unga, 165 Wn.2d at 100 (citing Fare v. Michael C., 442

U.S. 707, 724-25, 99 S.Ct. 2560 (1979)). Rood offers no alternative test for evaluating whether a suspect's custodial statement has been coerced by law enforcement.

Unga provides numerous factors relevant to the

totality of the circumstances analysis:

coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is not voluntary. Thus, both the conduct of law enforcement officers in exerting pressure on the defendant to confess and the defendant's ability to resist the pressure are important.

Circumstances that potentially are relevant in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis include the crucial element of police coercion; the length of the interrogation; its location: continuity: the defendant's its maturity, education, physical condition, and mental health; and whether the police advised the defendant of the rights to remain silent and to have counsel present during custodial interrogation.

Unga, 165 Wn.2d at 101-02 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Importantly, as this Court noted, "so long as [the suspect's] decision [to confess] is a product of the suspect's own balancing of competing considerations, the confession is voluntary." Id. at 102 (quoting *Miller v. Fenton*, 796 F.2d 598, 605, 55 USLW 2079 (3rd Cir. 1986)). In addition, a valid waiver of be inferred from findings that the *Miranda* may defendant's answers to questions were "freely and voluntarily made without duress, promise or threat and with full understanding of his constitutional rights." State

v. Gross, 23 Wn. App. 319, 324, 597 P.2d 894 (1979). And, the signing of an express waiver "is usually strong proof of the validity of the waiver." *State v. Rupe*, 101 Wn.2d 664, 678, 683 P.2d 571 (1984) (quoting *North Carolina v. Butler*, 441 U.S. 369, 99 S. Ct. 1755 (1979)).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Unga*'s totality of the circumstances test, noting the following facts:

- Detective Schultz's alleged statement did not result in an immediate response by Rood.
- After the alleged statement, Rood was left alone in her cell and Detective Schultz returned to his office.
- Rood reinitiated contact with Detective Schultz after
 80 minutes had passed, during which Detective
 Schultz had no further contact with her.
- After getting his attention, Rood asked Detective Schultz for a cup of coffee. Detective Schultz then

left Rood alone, got the coffee, and only at that time engaged with her.

- After learning that Rood wished to speak again with him, Detective Schultz read Rood's *Miranda* rights a second time.
- Detective Schultz went over the Miranda waiver form with Rood, who signed it, waiving her Miranda rights.
- Rood stated she understood her rights and wished to waive them.
- Rood testified she understood she could stop the second interview at any time by requesting a lawyer.
- Rood testified she knew she did not have to speak with Detective Schultz.
- Rood gave appropriate answers and was not confused during the second interview.

Op. at 21. The Court of appeals concluded that, given the above circumstances, "Rood had time to make a rational decision to reinitiate with Detective Schultz after balancing the competing considerations of remaining silent or telling her side of the story." *Id.* All the facts recounted above directly relate to *Unga*'s factors and support the Court's conclusion that Rood rationally decided to provide her confession.

Rood's petition for review fails to identify a single genuine error in the Court of Appeals' analysis concluding Rood made a rational decision to confess. In contrast to the Court of Appeals' detailed discussion, Rood fails to engage with the facts of the case, instead generalizing the detective's comment as "classic interrogation tactics" and offering the conclusory suggestion that "[t]elling a suspect that an alleged partner in crime is pinning the blame on her is a tactic designed to elicit a confession." Pet. for Review at 7.

For support, Rood points to Nelson v. Fulcomer, 911 F.2d 928, 59 USLW 2183 (3rd Cir. 1990), a persuasive authority easily distinguished from the instant case's facts. In *Nelson*, the police, immediately following Nelson's attempt to cut off questioning, "asked Moore [Nelson's alleged accomplice] to tell Nelson he had confessed and had implicated Nelson in the rape and murder." Id. at 934. Upon confrontation by Moore, Nelson asked an incriminating question of Moore. Id. at 934. However, the Nelson Court determined it was uncertain whether Nelson was informed of Moore's confession either by police or the accomplice. Id. Because of that, the Court remanded for appropriate findings, concluding, "[i]f it is determined that the police or Moore had already disclosed the confession when Nelson posed his incriminating question," then the police impermissibly interrogated Nelson. *Id.* at 940.

Nelson's facts do not align with the instant case. In Nelson, the police, "on the heels of Nelson's attempt to cut off questioning, conceived of and implemented the confrontation for the purpose of eliciting an incriminating response from Nelson." Id. at 938-39. The ploy appeared to succeed, and Nelson asked an incriminating question during the confrontation with Moore. In contrast, Detective Schultz allegedly made an isolated remark that produced no immediate response from Rood, who then waited 80 minutes before gaining the detective's attention, being re-Mirandized, waiving Miranda, and providing her confession.

The totality of the circumstances, including the detective's innocuous remark, the passage of time before Rood reinitiated contact, her express waiver of *Miranda* and testimony that she understood the implications of her waiver, all support the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Rood made a rational decision to confess after balancing

competing considerations of remaining silent or resuming her interview with Detective Schultz. Because the Court of Appeals correctly decided the detective's comment did not amount to interrogation or coerce her confession, this Court should deny discretionary review.

> B Because The Court Of Appeals Correctly Found The **Detective's** Remark Was Not Interrogation, Rood's Right То Counsel Was Scrupulously Honored And No Presumption Of Involuntariness Applied.

The Court of Appeals' determination that Detective Schultz's remark did not constitute interrogation rendered examination of whether any he unnecessary "scrupulously honored" Rood's request for counsel. In addition. the Court's refusal to find interrogation "presumption foreclosed Rood's asserted of involuntariness." See Pet. for Review at 9. It is undisputed that Rood reinitiated contact, was re-Mirandized, and then confessed. The only significant questions remaining

regarding the admissibility of Rood's confession are whether Detective's Schultz's remark amounted to interrogation and, if so, whether it coerced her confession 80 minutes later.

Because the Court of Appeals correctly determined the detective's remark did not amount to interrogation, Rood's request for counsel was scrupulously honored. And, because the Court correctly found Rood reinitiated the later reinterrogation (resulting in Rood's confession) after a valid waiver of *Miranda*, no presumption of involuntariness applied.

1. Detective Schultz scrupulously honored Rood's request for counsel.

While this Court did not directly analyze whether law enforcement scrupulously honored Rood's right to counsel, the Court's determination that the detective's comment did not amount to interrogation satisfies that standard in this case. In *State v. Boggs*, the Court of

Appeals addressed the factors informing whether a defendant's rights were "scrupulously honored:"

[1] that the police had ceased interrogation immediately upon the defendant's exercise of his rights, [2] that they resumed their interrogation only after the passage of a significant period of time, and [3] that subsequent interrogation was preceded by a reiteration of the *Miranda* rights.

16 Wn. App. 682, 687, 559 P.2d 11 (1977) (citing *Michigan v. Mosley*, 423 U.S. 96, 106, 96 S. Ct. 321 (1975)). The *Boggs* decision then clarified:

This is not to say the individual could not by his own voluntary and unsolicited action waive a previous exercise of his constitutional rights without first having the *Miranda* warnings reread to him. . . That situation differs factually from one in which the state is responsible for reinitiating the interrogation process. When the police either reopen a formal interrogation or solicit a response from a defendant in some other way, such statements will be admissible only if they were preceded by the *Miranda* warnings.

Id. (citing Mosely, 423 U.S. 96).

Given the undisputed facts that Rood reinitiated contact and was re-Mirandized, *Boggs* indicates that the prime consideration in whether Detective Schultz "scrupulously honored" Rood's request for counsel is whether his remark amounted to interrogation—a the Court of Appeals' decision already question answered. In view of the elements above, the Court of Appeals' analysis correctly establishes that (1) the remark not interrogation, (2) it was Rood-not law was enforcement—that reinitiated contact, leading to resumed interrogation, and (3) Rood was re-Mirandized before that interrogation. Accordingly, Rood's request for counsel was scrupulously honored.

Rood's discussion of *Brewer v. Williams*, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S. Ct. 1232 (1977), does not support her argument. In *Brewer*, the Supreme Court concluded no valid waiver of the defendant's right to counsel occurred. *Id.* at 404-06. Williams, a mental hospital escapee known

to be deeply religious, was arrested for abducting a child and transported by a detective to another city for judicial proceedings. Id. at 390. Prior to embarking, Williams's attorney explicitly told the detective not to question Williams about the abduction. Id. at 391-92. En route, Williams stated several times that he intended to meet with his attorney at their destination. Id. at 392. Before long, the detective expressed to Williams his belief that the abducted child should receive a Christian burial, and that they should stop and locate it on the way before a snowstorm concealed the body. Id. at 392-93. At two points in the journey, Williams unsuccessfully attempted to lead the detective to pieces of evidence. Id. at 393. As they approached the town where the body was located, Williams led the detective to the body. Id.

Brewer is easily distinguished because the federal district court found, and the U.S. Supreme Court agreed, that the transporting detective's monologue to the

defendant was specifically intended to elicit incriminating statements by exploiting the defendant's deep religiosity and mental illness. *Id.* at 402-05. In addition, the Court found clear constitutional error because the record contained no evidence supporting the prosecution's assertion that the defendant intended to relinquish his right to counsel. *Id.*

However, in the instant case, it is undisputed that Rood was re-Mirandized and signed a *Miranda* waiver form before providing her confession. In addition, while *Brewer's* detective delivered an extended, psychologically manipulative monologue designed to take advantage of Williams's religiosity and mental susceptibility, Detective Schultz's quip was isolated and benign.

While Rood suggests the *Brewer* Court did not consider the time interval between the monologue and Williams's incriminating conduct, the record showed the detective specifically instructed Williams not to respond,

and instead just to think about what he said. *Id.* at 393. And, at each point on the journey where Williams believed he had left evidence, he attempted to help the detective locate it, ultimately resulting in the discovery of the body. *Id.* With respect to the coercive nature of the detective's words, the *Brewer* Court was heavily concerned with Williams's ability to resist the detective's psychological pressure. *Id.*

Contrary to Rood's suggestion, the time interval between police conduct and an incriminating statement by a suspect is relevant in determining the statement's admissibility. See, e.g., State v. Riley, 19 Wn. App. 289, 299, 576 P.2d 1311 (1978) (finding an interval of more than one hour between an officer's offer of leniency and the suspect's confession indicated the offer had little if any impact). In the instant case, the time element is relevant because Rood's waiting 80 minutes after

Detective Schultz's remark indicates she had time to make a rational decision to provide her statement.

Because the Court of Appeals correctly found that Detective Schultz's remark did not constitute interrogation and that Rood reinitiated contact with law enforcement, Rood's right to counsel was scrupulously honored.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly refused to apply a presumption of involuntariness.

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